

"To solve these problems, we have to get to the root."



Transformative Resilience through Collective Action: A Study on Migrant Organizing in Toronto

Written by Rupaleem Bhuyan, Tenzin Chime, Alisha Alam and Andrea Bobadilla 2021

Building Migrant Resilience in Cities/ Immigration et résilience en milieu urbain

Acknowledgement

We are grateful to live and work in "Tkaronto", the traditional territories of the Huron-Wendat, Anishinabek Nation, the Haudenosaunee Confederacy, and the Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation and home to many Indigenous peoples from across Turtle Island.

This research received support from the Building Migrant Resilience in Cities (BMRC/IRMU) project and funding from the Social and Humanities Research Council of Canada.

We thank our Community Advisory Committee for their support and the trust they extended to us in this project. Throughout the project, we worked closely with South Asian Women's Rights Organization (SAWRO) and Tibetan Women's Association of Ontario (TWAO), who played a central role in conceptualizing and carrying out the research. Special thanks to Yogendra Shakya, who in his role as a Senior Researcher with Access Alliance Multicultural Health and Community Services, provided the original vision for this project.

Advisory Committee Members

Rinchen Dolma Tibetan Women's Association of Ontario

Flordeliz M. Dandal Kababayan Multicultural Centre

Zahra Ebrahim Monumental

Angela Koh Working Women Community Centre
Tashi Kuyee Tibetan Women's Association of Ontario
Sultana Jahangir South Asian Women's Rights Organization

Marvin Macaraig Access Alliance Multicultural Health and Community Services
Martha Ocampo Caregiver Connections, Education and Support Organization

Seher Shafiq Independent Community Worker

Sajedeh Zaraei Ontario Council of Agencies Service Immigrants

Authorship

Rupaleem Bhuyan is an Associate Professor at the Factor-Inwentash Faculty of Social Work who campaigns for immigrant rights and against gender-based violence.

মঙ্গুর নেইর নেই রাজ ক্রিন্ Tenzin Chime is pursuing her undergraduate degree in Political Science at the University of Toronto. She works as the Administrative Director of Made in Exile, a community arts-based initiative for Tibetan youth in Toronto.

Alisha Alam is an MSW student at York University. She organizes with the South Asian Women's Rights Organization as part of the Bangladeshi community in Toronto's East-Danforth neighbourhoods.

Andrea Bobadilla is a Ph.D. candidate at Western University who organizes with the OHIP for All campaign and is a board member for the Migrant Resource Centre of Canada. Her research background is in health, migration, gender, and care work.

Suggested citation: Bhuyan, R., Chime, T., Alam, A., and Bobadilla, A. (2021). Transformative Resilience through Collective Action: A Study on Migrant Organizing in Toronto. *Building Migrant Resilience in Cities/Immigration et resilience en milieu urbain (BMRC/IRMU)*. Toronto. https://bmrc-irmu.info.yorku.ca

Report design and cover art by Azza Abbaro I azzaabbaro.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTAUTHORSHIP	
REPORT HIGHLIGHTS	6
INTRODUCTION	10
Terminology	11
OVERVIEW OF THE RESEARCH PROJECT	13
RESEARCH & KNOWLEDGE MOBILIZATION OBJECTIVES	13
Methods & Participants	14
Interview and Focus Group Questions	14
Goals for this report	15
RESEARCH CONTEXT - COMMUNITY ORGANIZING IN THE GREATER TORON' AREA	
CROSS-CUTTING ISSUES: INSIGHTS FROM MIGRANT GRASSROOTS ORGANIZ	ERS 17
CASE STUDIES OF MIGRANT-LED COLLECTIVE ACTION	19
South Asian Immigrant Women in East Danforth: Background	19
SOUTH ASIAN IMMIGRANT WOMEN: KEY CONCERNS	21
TIBETAN COMMUNITY IN PARKDALE: BACKGROUND	22
TIBETAN COMMUNITY: KEY CONCERNS	23
MOTIVATION: WHAT BRINGS PEOPLE TOGETHER?	26
ORIGIN STORIES OF COLLECTIVE ACTION	26
WHY MIGRANTS STAY INVOLVED IN COLLECTIVE ACTION	28
ORGANIZING GOALS & STRATEGIES & ACTIONS	29
VALUES GUIDING STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT	30
Linking Organizing Goals and Strategies	31
LINKING ORGANIZING GOALS AND STRATEGIES: SAWRO	33
LINKING ORGANIZING GOALS AND STRATEGIES: TIBETAN COMMUNITY IN PARKDALE	34
IMPACTS	39
RESOURCES	42
BARRIERS TO ORGANIZING	43
INDIVIDUAL-LEVEL BARRIERS TO PARTICIPATING IN COLLECTIVE ACTION	43
GROUP AND COMMUNITY-LEVEL BARRIERS TO ORGANIZING COLLECTIVE ACTION	45
TRANSFORMATIVE RESILIENCE DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC	46
7 LESSONS FROMMIGRANT COLLECTIVE ACTION	49
GLOSSARY	50
REFERENCES	53

Executive Summary

To solve these problems, we have to go to the root. It is time to get to the root of the problem. We are in the root of the problem, so let us work together, helping to hold each other up and build something. You and I as organizers can be the glue-makers. Activists can be the glue-makers. Policymakers who think that something needs to be done where everybody can benefit can be the glue makers, connecting all of the solutions.

South Asian Immigrant Woman Leader

On March 17, 2020, one week after the World Health Organization announced the spread of the Coronavirus COVID-19 to be a pandemic, Ontario Premier Doug Ford declared a state of emergency and issued temporary closure of all non-essential businesses, schools, and restrictions on public gatherings to reduce the spread of the virus. In the face of this global public health crisis, migrant communities mobilized to offer mutual aid and assist those within their communities who were experiencing economic hardship due to job loss, unpaid leave, and the stress of working in front-line essential jobs or living in high density housing with limited options for social distancing.

The pandemic and related economic, social, and humanitarian crises have magnified multiple layers of marginalization and inequality in Canada, especially for Black, Indigenous and racialized communities. Racialized immigrants disproportionately work in essential jobs where they earn low-wages and face increased risk of exposure to COVID-19 but are also less likely to have access to health care or have pre-existing health conditions that increase the health risks associated with COVID-19.

As governments have responded to the COVID-19 pandemic through public health measures and economic aid, there has been renewed attention to the role of civil society to work together to foster resilient societies that are capable of maintaining health and well-being when faced with economic, social, and environmental adversities (Rippon et al., 2020) While there is attention to underemployment among migrants, in this report we draw attention to the knowledge and wisdom of

migrants whose capacity for transformative resilience illustrates the power of civic engagement through collective action.

The concept of resilience has received emerging attention in Cities across the globe, as a strategy for developing infrastructure and supports that promote social well-being and sustainable growth in response to social, economic, and environmental threats (Fitzgibbons and Mitchell, 2019). In the context of immigrant settlement and integration, resilience often refers to the capacity of migrants to "settle, adapt and prosper in their new country" (Broughton & Shields, 2020) with support from government and non-profit settlement services (Akbar, 2017).

As migration scholars, activists, and migrants ourselves, we set out to examine what resilience means from the perspectives of migrants living in the Greater Toronto Area who leverage their cultural and place-based knowledge to provide mutual aid to members of their community, while organizing collective actions to advocate for systemic changes that advance equity, inclusion, cultural preservation, and Indigenous sovereignty.

We were inspired by frameworks for understanding social and community resilience that emphasize the capacity of communities to work together to "respond to and influence change, sustain and renew the community and develop new trajectories for the future, so they can thrive in a changing environment" (Rippon *et al.*, 2020). While a resilience approach emphasizes the strengths of migrants to overcome the adversities they face pre- and post-migration, we also wanted to explore how migrants' collective action to challenge systemic inequality that fuels transformative change in society in ways that contribute to social equity and inclusion for society as a whole.

Under the guidance of a Community Advisory Committee, we used a case study approach that was grounded in community-based research principles (Access Alliance, 2012), to learn from migrant community leaders in: A) the Tibetan community living in Toronto's Parkdale neighborhood and B) South Asian immigrant women living in Toronto's East Danforth neighborhoods.

Research Questions:

- 1. How and why do migrant communities self-organize collective actions?
- 2. What are the effective strategies for organizing within migrant communities?
- 3. How does migrant collective action promote individual, community, and transformative resilience?

Our case studies on migrant-led collective action shed light on the broader social and political context, including cross-cutting issues that impact migrants from diverse backgrounds in the Greater Toronto Area.

Community-Based Research Methods

This research grew out of a collaboration between University and Community-based researchers and migrant community leaders in the Greater Toronto Area. Between June and August 2019, we conducted focus groups with the Tibetan community in Parkdale and South Asian immigrant women in East Danforth, along with qualitative interviews with community organizers working across the Greater Toronto Area (GTA). In this report, we highlight the key concerns shared by community organizers and migrant community leaders, how they link personal struggles to systemic inequalities, and their efforts to build stronger communities and to advocate for systemic changes to improve the rights and well-being of members of their migrant communities and the broader Canadian society.

Report Highlights

Migrant-Led Community Organizing Strengthens Individual & Community Resilience

- Across the case studies of two communities, migrant community leaders strengthen individual and community resilience by tapping into social networks in their communities and supporting each other through mutual aid, direct services, and advocating for policy changes that address shared concerns.
- Most of the Tibetan community in the Greater Toronto Area (GTA)
 immigrated to Canada within the past 15-20 years as refugees. Tibetan
 immigrants maintain close ties with each other through their shared culture
 and lived experiences and with the Tibetan diaspora who settled in India and
 Nepal after fleeing Chinese occupation.
- Many South Asian immigrant women residing in East Danforth entered
 Canada as economic immigrants from Bangladesh who have faced
 employment barriers after settling in Canada. South Asian immigrant women
 organize with other residents by going door-to-door to introduce
 themselves, build a sense of community, and empower women through
 helping them find decent work, childcare, and access to education.

Identifying Shared Challenges is Key to Individual & Community Resilience

- Working together to understand and challenge the root causes of systemic inequality is fundamental to develop individual and community resilience.
- Tibetan community members and South Asian women in East Danforth share concerns that stem from **structural inequalities** including a) isolation as new immigrants, b) economic insecurity that results from low-wages, precarious work and the rising cost of housing; c) discrimination and violence stemming from anti-immigrant sentiment and racism; and d) exclusion from social services and legal aid due to provincial funding cuts.
- Tibetan Freedom Movement brings Tibetans who live in Toronto together to take part in transnational resistance to ongoing Chinese occupation of Tibet.
- Working together to preserve language, cultural and religious knowledge in the diaspora fosters individual and community resilience, including resistance to assimilation to settler colonialism in Canada.
- South Asian immigrant women experience barriers to accessing labor market due to the complex intersection of gender-based inequity in their home country and racialized systemic inequalities in Canada. These shared experiences were the starting point in organizing work for their social and economic inclusion.

Cross-Cutting Issues that Contribute to Migrant Exclusion and Inequality

- Migrant rights leaders across the GTA identified several cross-cutting issues
 that impact migrants from different backgrounds including precarious
 immigration status, barriers to family reunification, lack of decent work and
 affordable housing, and barriers to accessing higher education and health
 care.
- Racialized migrants face discrimination at school, work and in the criminal justice system due to systemic racism, Islamophobia, sexism, and other intersecting oppressions.

- Some cross-cutting issues are harder to address due to stigma within migrant communities including gender-based violence, safety for migrant sex workers, and discrimination against lesbian, gay, bi-sexual, queer, and transgender people.
- Migrant leaders from the Tibetan community especially expressed urgency to work in solidarity with Indigenous struggles for sovereignty, rights, and respect for the land.

Organizing Strategies & Goals that Foster Individual and Community Resilience

- Migrant leaders engage activities that build capacity within their communities to address individual and collective problems and work towards systemic change.
- Some of the activities focus on recovering cultural knowledge and strengthening identity as immigrants in Canada.
- Migrants take part in social movements that address structural issues that contribute to economic insecurity of migrant communities (e.g. \$15 and Fairness minimum wage campaign, Parkdale rent strike in 2017, and the workers' strike at Ontario's Food Terminal in Etobicoke).
- Migrants also lobby their Members of Parliament to assist family members to immigrate from Nepal after the 2015 earthquake or when testifying before Parliament about their experience of precarious work and economic hardship.

Building Transformative Resilience: Lessons from Migrant Collective Action

 Through organizing direct actions and participating in social movements, migrants foster their transformative resilience to cope with adversities they face in Canada while building capacity to transform themselves, build stronger connections within their communities, and bring about systemic changes that increase equity and well-being.

7 LESSONS FROM MIGRANT COLLECTIVE ACTIONS

- 1) When migrant communities come together, they create spaces of belonging, draw upon their individual & collective experiences of inequality, and build a sense of responsibility towards the community and future generation.
- 2) The way people come together matters. It's important to create space for community sharing, to link history to the present, and nurture and provide opportunities for shared leadership.
- 3) Migrant-led **community organizing** strengthens individual and community resilience by collectively identifying shared challenges, tapping into community assets and networks, and building collective capacity through mutual aid, direct services, and advocating for policy changes that address shared concerns.
- 4) Through organizing direct actions and building solidarity with the larger migrant community, migrant leaders foster transformative resilience within their communities and advocate for systemic changes in Canada and transnationally.
- 5) Limited and unstable funding strain community leaders and resources.
- 6) Government and non-profit organizations can play a vital role to support migrant-led community organizing. Some forms of support may include:
 - a. Space for communities to come together.
 - b. Workshops or training on grassroots leadership development, public education, and community capacity building.
 - c. Funding to support grassroots initiatives, where community-based organizers can work within their own communities.
 - d. Amplifying community-led concerns.
 - e. Including migrant community leaders in community and program development
- 7) Migrant collective action promotes social cohesion and civic engagement through resisting assimilation to settler colonialism, practicing cultural and spiritual knowledge; and envisioning and working towards a society where all people can thrive.

Introduction

In this report, we explore how migrant communities build capacity for resilience through collective organizing and resistance to systemic inequalities. In June of 2019, the City of Toronto released their first ever "Resilience Strategy" to promote "sustainable development, well-being, and inclusive growth" (City of Toronto, 2019). Within this multi-pronged strategy, immigrants are noted for their contributions to the region through organizing cultural festivals, such as the annual Caribana Carnival founded in 1967. Immigrants with other racialized communities are also recognized for contributing their leadership in organizing resistance to racial inequality, including the Young Street uprising in 1992, led by the Black Action Defense Committee. Despite their many contributions, the City of Toronto's resilience strategy primarily frames immigrants and refugees as an "equity-seeking group" who face significant structural and systemic challenges that contribute to poor health and well-being.

City of Toronto's embrace of "resilience" is part of the transnational "100 Resilience Cities" network, where urban governments seek to strengthen their region's infrastructure and institutional supports for communities who face growing economic, environmental, and social insecurity related to globalization, climate change, and population diversity (Resilient Cities Network, 2020). Although transnational migration is often constructed as an "opportunity" for immigrants seeking a "better life" in Canada, migration is deeply embedded within systems of global inequality that give rise to the need for migrant resilience. The majority of immigrants arriving in Canada today, originate in countries in the low- and middle-income countries in Asia, Africa, South America and the Caribbean. While immigrants contribute to Canada's economy and bring a wealth of knowledge, experience, and financial resources, recent immigrants disproportionately face the worst outcomes in every socio-economic indicator including chronic low income, precarious work, precarious housing, isolation, and poor health and mental health after settling in Canada (Block, Galabuzi-Grace, and Tranjan, 2019).

Resilience theory has commonly focused on the psychological attributes of individuals who are thriving despite risks to their well-being and the role of social institutions to help people overcome the challenges they face. Migrant resilience involves adapting to and overcoming adversities faced pre- and post-migration including traumatic experiences related to war, family separation, language discrimination, poverty, and intergenerational conflict (Anleu Hernández & García-Moreno, 2014; Carlson et al., 2012; Dubus, 2018). Recognizing that 'resilience results from an *interaction* between individual abilities and a social environment"

(Suarez, 2015, p. 6, emphasis added), support from social networks, government and non-profit organizations are integral to fostering individual and community resilience among immigrants (Lenette, Brough, & Cox, 2013; Nashwan, Cummings, & Gagnon, 2019).

To better understand how migrant communities build resilience within their communities and for the broader society, this report shares insights from a participatory action research study with migrant communities in Toronto, Ontario who are engaged in collective action. Through the case studies with two migrant communities—Tibetan immigrants living in the Parkdale neighborhood and South Asian immigrant women in the East Danforth neighborhoods—we illustrate how migrant communities leverage their cultural and place-based knowledge to work together to a) identify social issues that migrants in their communities are facing, b) link personal challenges to structural inequalities, c) provide mutual aid and support to address immediate needs within their communities, and d) envision and work towards systemic changes to promote equity, inclusion, and well-being for all members of society. Through these case studies, we illustrate how migrant-led collective action builds individual, community and transformative resilience.

Terminology

What do we mean by resilience?

In this report, we use the following definitions to understand how migrant collective actions foster individual, community, and **transformative resilience**, and build capacity among community members to respond to and challenge **systemic inequalities** faced by them in Canada and their communities in the diaspora.

Individual Resilience

Individual capacity to cope with, adapt to and recover from adversities towards improving well-being.

Community Resilience

A community's capacity to draw on individual and collective resources to respond to and recover from adversities towards improving individual and community wellbeing.

Transformative Resilience

Capacity within communities to resist systemic inequalities and envision and bring about changes in social, economic, and political systems towards increasing inclusion, equity, and well-being for all members of society.

Who are migrants in Canada?

Canada has an international reputation for "welcoming" immigrants, who contribute significantly to Canada's prosperity through their labour, assets, and knowledge. Immigration today is the primary driver of population growth, with over 20% of the total population born outside of Canada, including immigrants from countries in Asia, Africa, Central and South America, and the Caribbean (Statistics Canada, 2019). While multiculturalism, equity, and tolerance for diversity are seen as cornerstones of Canadian immigration policy, systemic racism and white supremacy persist in Canada's approach to managing immigrants in concert with colonial governance over Indigenous territories and people. Thus, despite being one of the "most diverse" countries in the world, most immigrants entering Canada today are racialized as "visible minorities" who experience disproportionate levels of poverty, underemployment, and involvement with the criminal justice system.

In this report, we use the "migrant" to refer to the variety of people who reside in Canada, irrespective of their official immigration status. Migrants include people who are displaced due to war, political conflict, economic hardship, and environmental crises. Since 2016, the federal government has steadily increased the number of new permanent residents accepted each year, reaching a high of 341,180 in 2019 (Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada (IRCC), 2020), although the numbers for 2020 have likely dipped due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The majority of permanent residents are approved through one of Canada's economic programs, followed by the Family Class and Humanitarian programs. Canada remains a leader in third country resettlement of U.N. Convention Refugees, with 29,950 refugees resettled in Canada in 2019 (IRCC, 2020).

In recent decades, more people living in Canada have a **precarious immigration status**. In 2019, over 650,000 people resided in Canada with a temporary resident status including temporary workers, international students, and refugee claimants (IRCC, 2020). People who are considered **non-status** (i.e., undocumented immigrants) are particularly vulnerable due to limited rights, exclusion from social and health services, and the potential threat of being detained or deported from Canada.

Overview of the Research Project

This research was inspired by collective actions led by migrant communities who resist social and economic exclusion after settling in Canada.

This project began as a partnership between Yogendra Shakya (formerly with Access Alliance, Multicultural Health Centre) and Rupaleem Bhuyan (University of Toronto) with support from the Building Migrant Resilience SSRHC Partnership. Our research team also included Andrea Bobadilla, Alisha Alam, and Tenzin Chime, who are all university students who are directly involved in migrant-led collective action in the Greater Toronto Area (GTA).

We also convened a Community Advisory Committee with grassroots community leaders and civil society leaders working in non-profit and government organizations (see list on page 2). Our research team and Community Advisory Committee worked together to exchange our knowledge about resilience and migrant-led collective action, clarify our research questions, recruit migrant leaders to take part in qualitative interviews, analyze our data, and write this report.

Research & Knowledge Mobilization Objectives

Research Objectives: Using participatory research methods, this study aims to generate knowledge about migrant-led collective action to:

- Understand how and why migrant communities organize collective actions.
- Document the impacts of migrant collective actions on migrant communities and the host society.
- Identify institutions supports and resources that can better support migrant collective action.

Knowledge Mobilization Objectives: Through sharing the lessons, we learned from talking with migrant community organizers, this report aims to:

- Bring visibility to the migrant communities' understanding of structural inequalities in Canada
- Enable migrant communities to build and strengthen networks
- Document history of migrant community organizing for the next generation
- Highlight forms of solidarity/allyship with other communities
- Support solidarity efforts among migrant and indigenous groups who are challenging systemic inequality and settler colonialism
- Highlight the contributions of migrant communities through their collective action
- Showcase the transformative dimensions of migrant collective action, beyond their capacity to cope with and assimilate to the adversities they face in Canada.

Methods & Participants

From July to September 2019, we conducted two focus groups with migrant community leaders—one with Tibetan immigrants living in Parkdale (N=5) and one with South Asian immigrant women living in East Danforth (N=8). While we spoke to Tibetan leaders involved with different groups, most of the South Asian women leaders were from SAWRO who were also affiliated with other groups in the community. We also conducted 11 in-depth interviews with recognized grassroots community organizers working across the GTA.

Participants for the focus group and individual interviews were recruited through the personal network of the research team or community advisors. All participants were informed about the goals of this study before giving consent to take part in the interviews or focus group conversations. We have removed all identifying information to preserve the anonymity of individuals who took part in this research.

In November 2019, we hosted a community forum to bring together leaders from the Tibetan community in Parkdale and South Asian immigrant women in East Danforth. We shared our preliminary research findings and created a space for migrant community leaders to share and learn from each other, including the challenges they face when talking about taboo topics in the community.

Interview and Focus Group Questions

During the focus groups, migrant community leaders were asked the following:

- Why did you become involved in community organizing? Why do you stay involved?
- What do you feel are the most pressing concerns for your community members?
- What strategies do you use to address shared concerns?
- How do you come together, plan, or organize collective action?
- What are some of the collective actions you've taken part in? What impact did these actions have on you and for the larger community?
- What kinds of challenges, barriers and hurdles were faced for planning and implementing these collective actions?

During individual interviews with migrant grassroots organizers, we also asked:

- What role have different levels of government played in supporting collective civic actions led by migrant communities?
- What resources are available for migrant communities to collectively organize?

- How do migrant collective actions impact policy and program development?
- What institutional supports are needed to support migrant-led community organizing?

Goals for this report

We write this report for migrant communities across Canada and the globe who are looking for ways to address the hardships associated with systemic inequalities through community-building and organizing. This report highlights how migrants tap into their community assets and collective identities to support each other and advocate for systemic change. Through documenting migrants' capacity for individual, community, and transformative resilience, we illustrate the often-unrecognized strength that migrant contribute to the countries where they settle.

We hope that the lessons shared by migrant community leaders in this report will contribute to better understanding the challenges migrant communities face. Through recognizing migrants' contributions, we aim to foster greater appreciation for different forms of civic engagement that migrants bring through their critical understanding of social and economic inequalities they face in Canada and transnationally, and migrants' capacity to bring about positive social change.

The COVID-19 Pandemic and Uprisings against Police Brutality

We are mindful that the research that informs this report took place several months before the onset of the global COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. In the same year, uprisings were also taking place across Canada and the United States, to protest police brutality and systemic racism against Black, Indigenous and people of colour. Both the COVID-19 pandemic and uprisings against systemic racism have deeply impacted migrant communities in the Greater Toronto Area including those involved in our study.

Because our data collection took place during the summer of 2019, we cannot speak directly to the systemic inequalities faced by migrants during the pandemic. We will, however, include a brief reflection at the end of the report on how migrant communities are coming together to offer mutual aid and support during the pandemic crisis and what lessons we can take from migrant collective actions on how to move forward towards a more promising future.

Research Context - Community Organizing in the Greater Toronto Area

This research builds upon the long history of grassroots organizing and mutual aid within migrant communities in the Greater Toronto Area. Toronto represents one of the most ethnoculturally diverse cities in the world, with over 50% of the population born outside of Canada. While the City of Toronto's official motto is "Diversity is our Strength" and the city boasts integration and multicultural policies, racial and economic segregation continues to shape the everyday lives of immigrants, most of whom originated in the Global South (Bhuyan and Leung, 2021).

During the period of study, the Greater Toronto Area experienced marked economic and population growth, primarily driven by immigrants, who now make up more than half of all residents in this region. Despite a decline in poverty rates and low unemployment overall, the GTA remains the most expensive city in Canada with high degrees of income inequality, skyrocketing housing costs, with continued racial and economic segregation (Hulchanski & Maaranen, 2018).

Since the Ontario election of Conservative Premier Doug Ford in June 2018, communities across Ontario grappled further with dramatic budget cuts and policy restrictions that negatively impacted migrant communities involved in our research. Some of the policies introduced between 2018-2019 include (for details see Asalya 2019; Xing 2018):

- Freezing the minimum wage increase at \$14 and repealing Kathleen Wynne government's Bill 148, which gave Ontario workers a minimum of two paid sick-leave days and required employers to pay part-time employees at the same rate as full-time workers.
- Reducing the legal aid budget by 30% including new restrictions on legal aid for immigrants with precarious status.
- Increasing class sizes for high school and elementary students and eliminating 10,000 teaching positions in Ontario public schools.
- Removing rent control for new units or those not occupied before November 15, 2018.
- Hundreds of millions of dollars in cuts to health and mental health care services, including cuts to autism, dementia services and removing drug benefits for children in Ontario's Health Insurance Plan (OHIP).
- Cutting the size of Toronto City Council down to 25 wards and changing ward boundaries amid the 2019 municipal elections

This policy context serves as a backdrop to the conversations we had with migrant leaders and the collective actions they organized to strengthen their communities and challenge systemic inequalities.

Cross-cutting issues: Insights from Migrant Grassroots Organizers

Before discussing our case studies, we share insights from interviews with migrant grassroots organizers working with various migrant communities across the GTA. Migrant organizers emphasize the need to understand the intersectionality of crosscutting issues related to precarious immigration status, economic insecurity, gender inequity and racism, which compounds the oppression experienced by migrant communities. By developing a collective consciousness on issues affecting their communities, they identify ways of addressing the problems locally, regionally and nationally.

- Targeted laws and policies: Many of the funding cuts introduced under Premier Doug Ford, particularly to public education and legal aids, disproportionately affect people of colour and migrant communities. The changes to the Caregiver Program in 2019 also increased barriers for migrant workers to enter Canada and get permanent residence and access different supports in the country. Migrant sex workers are particularly vulnerable due to the criminalization of sex work, and surveillance and abuse from law enforcement under bylaws that fail to protect workers' rights in massage parlours.
- Precarious immigration: Immigration detention, poor conditions in detention centers, and their impacts on their health as well as their personal, relational and professional life of incarcerated migrants are key concerns. The precarity of undocumented migrants who experience pervasive social, political and economic insecurity was also raised and discussed.
- **Economic insecurity** is shared as a prominent issue experienced across migrant communities. Many migrants are employed in temporary and precarious jobs that have low wages and lack labour rights. With rising living cost and unaffordable housing in Toronto, economic insecurity is a major factor contributing to people's poor health and social stress.
- Racism and xenophobia: Migrant organizers express their concern over increasing racist and xenophobic anti-migrant sentiments in recent years, as

indicated by the increase in hate crimes but also different policies, police brutality and negative media portrayals of migrants.

- **Gender-based oppression:** Gendered inequality within migrant communities and the broader Canadian society contributes to strict gender roles, domestic violence, limited childcare support, and gender-based violence in families, as well as employer-abuse experienced by migrant women working in the Live-In-Caregiver Program. Both Tibetan and South Asian migrant leaders also stress the need to address gender inequality and create supports for LGBTQ community members.
- Barriers to accessing resources and services in Canada are key concerns in many migrant communities. This includes language barriers, difficulty in navigating the bureaucratic system, precarious immigration status, social stigma and repressive policies against sex workers.
- Youth-related issues: Migrant youth face unique social and mental health challenges due to systemic racism, social isolation, exposure to community violence, intergenerational trauma related to forced migration. There is lack of employment and leadership opportunities for racialized youth, which explains high dropout rates among high schoolers, unlawful economic activities, etc.
- Internalized oppression: Migrant organizers share that internalized oppression experienced by migrant workers often justifies and perpetuates antimigrant framework. This can include divisions between documented and undocumented migrants and classism within migrant communities which can weaken solidarity among migrant groups.

Immigrant communities have had histories, whether it be in their countries of origin or related to the issues in countries of origin, of heavy organizing, mobilizing, political activism, involvement. We need to find a way to channel the same type of energy into fighting racism and racial impact and xenophobia around immigrants and refugees.

Migrant Grassroots Organizer

Case Studies of Migrant-Led Collective Action

In this section, we provide a brief overview of the historical and social context for each case study as background for our discussion of migrant led collective action. Community members in the Tibetan community in Parkdale and South Asian immigrant women in East Danforth mobilize their cultural knowledge, identity, and geographic location to strengthen their sense of belonging and capacity to address individual and collective problems.

After providing some background for each community's history in Toronto, we discuss key issues in the two communities; some are related to systemic inequality and shared by both communities, whereas some are unique issues that arise in relation to each community's history of migration and social context in Canada.

South Asian Immigrant Women in East Danforth: Background

Migrants from South Asia make up a sizable portion of people living across the Greater Toronto Area. The term "South Asian" refers to people who originate in countries that share a geographic proximity and political history under British colonial rule including Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, India, Nepal, Pakistan; people in the South Asian diaspora also include migrants from Africa and the Caribbean whose ancestors originated in what was known as British India (Tran, Kaddatz, and Allard 2005); a few Tibetans in our study also identify as South Asian. For our study, we focused on collective actions organized by South Asian immigrant women from the East-Danforth neighbourhoods of Oakridge and Taylor Massey. While the migrant leaders we met with in this community identity as women from Bangladesh, they organize under the broader category of South Asian immigrant women, to be inclusive and have a stronger political voice.

South Asian immigrant women in East Danforth link their social and economic marginalization in Canada to the intersection of gender-based oppression in their home countries, global capitalism and gendered racism (South Asian Women's Rights Organization, 2012). Despite entering Canada as "economic immigrants" with advanced degrees in their home countries, South Asian immigrant women often have limited work experience due to rigid gender roles and the feminization of low-wage labour in Bangladesh's export industries (Frank and Hou, 2016; Mamoud 2003). Women's reproductive responsibilities persist after coming to

Canada as women disproportionately shoulder domestic and caregiving labour to support the family's settlement (Ghosh, 2007; Akbar and Preston, 2020). Additionally, they experience traumas associated with migration and social dislocation (South Asian Women's Rights Organization, 2012). South Asian immigrant women also face gendered racism when seeking employment and are often compelled to take up "survival jobs" that are characterized by low wages, no benefits, and unfair treatment (South Asian Women's Rights Organization, 2012).

Since I was younger, I've been hearing 'oh when you come to [Canada], when you're an immigrant it's harder to get a job', but now I'm realizing it's not just that, there are levels of problems like, oh your skills are not being recognized. And there are so many other barriers, like language barriers, childcare is a main barrier for immigrant women; it's those things that bring immigrant women down, away from achieving.

South Asian Immigrant Woman Leader

In the face of these complex intersecting oppressions, South Asian Women's Rights Organization (SAWRO) takes a lead role in East Danforth community in grassroots organizing for the social and economic inclusion of women in their community. SAWRO works closely with local settlement organizations who provide training on personal and professional skills and some financial support. They also work alongside the private sector union Unifor and collaborate with the Bangladesh Centre to host cultural and legal education events. In addition to providing mutual aid and direct services to address the immediate needs of the community, SAWRO mobilize women and young girls to take leadership roles to advocate for their themselves and the collective's interests. They organize direct actions, lobby elected officials and take part in advocacy campaigns to fight for equitable access to employment, better working conditions including paid sick leave, maternity leave, an increased minimum wage, and all-day kindergarten. SAWRO also facilitate intergenerational engagement by creating opportunities to pass-down cultural knowledge & language as well as to have dialogue on gender-based oppressions in the community.

South Asian Immigrant Women: Key Concerns

South Asian immigrant women in the East-Danforth primarily organize for equitable access to employment and the labour market. Despite holding advanced degrees from their country of origin, many South Asian immigrant women face barriers to accessing professional employment due to the devaluing of internationally educated immigrants and lack of "Canadian Experience", which the Ontario Human Rights Commission has recognized as a human rights violation. South Asian community organizers share that to survive, many women in the community must take "the first job they are qualified for," which is often a low-wage entry-level jobs with no benefits or job security.

While community leaders provide support and assistance to women seeking employment, precarious work, especially jobs that are arranged through temporary agencies, expose immigrant women to exploitation, unstable and chaotic schedules, workplace discrimination, and poor and unsafe work conditions. Precariously employed immigrant women are also excluded from safety-nets, including maternity leave, sick leave, and employment insurance. Moreover, workers hired through temporary work agencies have limited labour protections under Ontario employment laws, thus employers are often able to disregard their rights and dignity with impunity.

Due to the prevalence of unemployment and precarious jobs, South Asian immigrant women in East Danforth also struggle with housing, access to education or job training, accessing employment insurance, childcare subsidies, and developing language and computer skills, that exacerbate their economic and social exclusion in Canada.

South Asian immigrant women leaders who organize to create awareness about precarious work, express frustration of "not being listened to" as some stakeholders and policymakers dismissed the issues they raised as not pressing enough.

Young South Asian women also express challenges related to isolation, labour precarity as well as Islamophobia faced in schools and Canada. Hence, a significant amount of the community's organizing is focused on breaking that isolation to integrate and empower women in their families, communities and Canadian society.

Finally, South Asian women contend with rigid gender roles in the family and racist and sexist stereotypes in the broader Canadian society. Therefore, economic independence is a priority for the women to meet their full potential by challenging

patriarchal structures within South Asian communities, while also seeking decent work and living wages in Canada.

Most of these women are highly educated, skilled women but they are starting from the zero because their skills were not recognized when they came here; their skills are scanned but now they don't recognize our skill, so we have to start from the zero level with the survival jobs, labour job.

South Asian Immigrant Woman Leader

Tibetan community in Parkdale: Background

The Tibetan community in Canada is a part of an estimated 150,000 Tibetans living in exile around the world (Central Tibetan Administration, n.d.). The Tibetan diaspora in exile originated in 1959 when the Tibetan uprising against the Chinese occupation was brutally suppressed by the Chinese Community Party. Soon after, Tibet's spiritual and political leader, the 14th Dalai Lama, was forced to flee Tibet and seek political asylum in India (Central Tibetan Administration, n.d.). Deprived of basic rights under Chinese occupation, thousands of Tibetans subsequently fled Tibet, with the majority living in India and Nepal.

Although both Indian and Nepalese governments granted political asylum to thousands of Tibetan exiles who have migrated since the 1950s, Tibetans are classified as "foreigners" under India's The Foreigners Act (1946), and those in Nepal have no legal status, thus face restrictions on their mobility, employment, and where they can settle (Dolma 2019). Despite living for several decades, majority of Tibetans in India and Nepal are de facto **stateless persons** who continue to face institutional barriers to acquiring citizenship and accessing rights and services (McGranahan, 2018), with thousands of Tibetans seeking third country refugee resettlement each year while continuing the struggle to free Tibet from Chinese occupation (Purohit, 2019).

Canada hosts one of the largest numbers of Tibetan refugees outside of Asia. in 2016, 8040 Tibetans were living in Canada, the majority of live in Toronto (Statistics Canada, 2019). While Tibetans have settled in different parts of the GTA, the South-Parkdale neighbourhood is home to a large concentration of Tibetans in Canada who make up a vibrant community known as 'Little Tibet,' with many Tibetan businesses and restaurants in the neighbourhood (Logan and Murdie, 2016). Many

Tibetans participate in local settlement organizations and local governance in Parkdale. In 2020, Bhutila Karpoche, the first elected Member of the Provincial Parliament of Tibetan origin representing Parkdale-High riding (CBC News, 2018), successfully introduced and passed a bill to recognize July as the Tibetan Heritage Month in Ontario.

The Tibetan Canadian Cultural Centre (TCCC) located in Etobicoke acts as their representative body in the GTA and serves as a hub for cultural and religious activities, community gatherings, events and social programming in the community. Local and transnational organizations like the Tibetan Youth Congress, Tibetan Women's Association, Students for a Free Tibet, Canada Tibet Committee and Dokham Chushi Gangdruk mobilize people for the Tibetan freedom movement (Karpoche, 2020).

As an immigrant group and also a very unique one, we come as refugees, with an on-going issue rather than from a country that already has its own space. So, there is a lot of anxiety about the loss of culture, loss of language, dispersion, you know. What will happen to the Tibetans who live in the West, who are outside of Tibet right? So, a lot of this leads to people being energized towards cultural preservation, language preservation.

Tibetan Community Leader

Tibetan Community: Key Concerns

As a stateless refugee community in Canada, the key issues of the Tibetans in Parkdale center around their identity as Tibetans in exile and **transnational** links to the Tibetan diaspora. The community places their transnational freedom movement against the ongoing Chinese occupation of Tibet at the core of their organizing work as they bring awareness to the violation of rights and freedom inside Tibet and take action to bring positive change in Tibet. The community also has strong transnational ties in the diaspora and often organize to support family and community members in Nepal and India, who face financial difficulties and institutional barriers to accessing rights and services.

In the Canadian context, Tibetan community leaders are concerned with the loss of Tibetan culture and language in exile due to the strong pressure to assimilate as well as the passing away of elder Tibetans, many of whom were born in Tibet and carried the knowledge and experience of livelihood, cultural and traditional practices in Tibet.

Some of the key concerns discussed by the Tibetan community leaders in Canada include:

- Sustaining the Tibetan Canadian Cultural Centre: A few years ago, the
 Tibetan Canadian Cultural Centre was at risk of folding due to unpaid lien and
 the community rallied together to raise funds and protect the space that is
 central for the community to be together and promote their culture and
 language. The community members continue to volunteer at the centre and
 often raise funds to sustain its operation.
- Unfair wages and Unaffordable Housing: Members of the Tibetan community raise the issues of unfair wages at the workplace and unaffordable housing in Parkdale as they participated in the 2017 rent strike in Parkdale and workers' strike at the Ontario Food Terminal in 2016. The rising cost of housing cause a concern around the sustenance of a vibrant Tibetan community in Parkdale. They also express concerns around increasing numbers of youth, especially men in their community, engaging in high-risk behaviors due to their economic insecurity.

In Parkdale, rent is becoming very unaffordable. It feels like gentrification is never-ending and the displacement is accelerating... When we had the community meeting about the rent strike and it was mostly Tibetans that you know the second concern about how this would make Tibetans look, I said I can't speak to that, but I spoke about the long term trends in Parkdale and I said "you know, isn't it great that it's little Tibet now and we can't afford to lose it and so if we don't do something, it's not going to stay. Things are just going to get worse and rent is just going to increase.

Tibetan Community Leader

• **Precarious immigration** is one of the pressing issues that the Tibetan community experience, and also struggle with organizing because of its complexity and the stigma associated with it in the community. Tibetans whose refugee claims are rejected experience unique precarity in Canada due to their

statelessness. In most cases, they cannot be deported back to any country and are compelled to live in a state of 'limbo' in Canada with no legal status. Additionally, community leaders with families in Nepal experience great challenges in their family reunification process as the lack of legal documentation for their families in Nepal restrict their immigration to Canada.

- The Chinese occupation and statelessness have taken a toll on the members of the Tibetan community as they experience collective trauma, inferiority complex and identity crisis among youth, with limited avenues and tools to address those issues. They also highlight the incident of a racist attack by Chinese students at the Tibetan student who was running for student union presidency at the University of Toronto Scarborough campus.
- Intergenerational Conflict: Tibetan community leaders also spoke of differences among Tibetans of different generations: those born in Tibet who fled as young adults, those who spent most of their lives in exile in Nepal or India and immigrated to Canada as adults; and youth who were either born or have spent most of their lives in Canada. Different life experiences contribute to intergenerational conflict over the use of the Tibetan language as well as differing views regarding what issues to prioritize and organize for.

The following represent the key concerns raised in our focus groups with Tibetan community members in Parkdale and South Asian immigrant women in East Danforth.

Tibetan Community

- Tibetan freedom movement
- Language and cultural preservation
- Supporting Tibetan diaspora in Nepal and India
- Sustaining the Tibetan
 Canadian Cultural Centre
- Economic insecurity
- Precarious immigration status
- Toll of occupation and statelessness
- Intergenerational conflict

South Asian Immigrant Women

- Precarious employment
- Underemployment
- Gender inequity
- Social isolation
- Lack of affordable childcare
- "Not being heard" by policymakers
- Social isolation
- Islamophobia

Motivation: What Brings People Together?

In this section, we share stories of how migrant leaders and organizers first became involved in collective action and what motivates them to stay involved.

Origin Stories of Collective Action

Migrant community leaders and grassroots organizers draw upon their lived experience with and resistance to adversity, both pre- and post-migration, as the starting point for critical consciousness and collective action. Migrant identities and communities are also sources of resilience because they provide spaces of belonging and sites where migrants learn about and challenge systemic inequality. While some community organizers are born into activist communities and families, others first become involved in community work as a volunteer, service receiver, or student.

Many [immigrants] come from very complex political structures and environments... so I think the first thing is to acknowledge the strength many of these communities bring, not just their lived experience and knowledge, but also [their understanding of] the structures that exist.

Migrant Grassroots Organizer

- Lived Experience: Migrant organizers draw upon their experience with colonialism and imperialism outside of Canada, to help them understand the systems of oppression that impact migrant communities in Canada. Migrant leaders from the East-Danforth and Parkdale communities both of which are low-income, racialized immigrant communities reflect on and learn about their experiences of adversity and inequality. Centering their individual and collective experiences inspires them to 'take ownership' of the issues as a community and organize collective actions for equitable social change.
- Identity, Family and Community: Migrant leaders tap into identities and existing social networks in the community as a pathway for their members to become involved in collective action. People's identities as diasporic people or migrants are influential in engaging people as they evoke a sense of responsibility and kinship towards their community members in Canada and the diaspora, but

also towards the Indigenous communities.

Existing social networks also bring people together to address immediate needs in the community as well as practice their culture and language. They foster a sense of belonging and social cohesion, which strengthen individual and community resilience.

As a Tibetan I should do something for Tibet... Back in Tibet, it's almost 5/6 millions right, so they are burning themselves up, the monasteries are closed, they are not allowed to study, they control, no human rights, so we see that urgency. So they also have look outside, they look at outside. I think it is our duty to at least to do something for Tibet.

Tibetan Community Leader

- Volunteering or Receiving Social Services: Accessing services from local ethnocultural or service-providing organizations led some migrant leaders to volunteer and later become involved in collective action. When migrants personally benefit from receiving services or volunteering, it motivates them to 'give back' to the community and support other members.
- Student Life: Youth organizers (ages 15-30) become involved through local youth programs, volunteering, and/or through clubs at their school/university. These experiences are crucial for them in developing a stronger sense of identity and kinship with their community as well as inspiring and enabling them to take on leadership roles to organize for the community and beyond.

When I was in grade 5, my mom would bring us kids along. There were childcare services. We grew up, we were all these youth I've known them a long time. We bonded and decided, 'let's do something constructive, let's create, let's do!'

South Asian Immigrant Woman Leader

Why Migrants Stay Involved in Collective Action

Even with the many challenges associated with community organizing (discussed later in the report), migrant organizers share individual and collective reasons for staying involved in community organizing.

• Empowerment and Recognition:

Recognizing the strength of community organizing and their victories empowers people and keeps them engaged. Migrant leaders recognize that their achievements, however small, have personal value and are important for their communities. Collective action also brings visibility to migrant issues that support the migrant leaders in their work to organize for their community needs and issues.

Individual benefits:

Migrant leaders share individual benefits from participating in collective actions that includes building leadership skills, making connections within and beyond their community, achieving a sense of purpose and feeling of inclusiveness by having a 'voice'. However, some migrant leaders also share that their life-long commitment to challenging systemic inequalities comes at a cost to them financially and personally.

• Better future for the new generation:

Both Tibetan and South Asian immigrant women leaders organize various programs and events that promote their language and culture as they link their preservation of cultural knowledge and practices as integral to community. They also organize collective actions with a vision to secure a just and equitable society for their future generations.

Interconnectedness:

Migrant leaders recognize the role of community organizing in developing critical consciousness on the cross-cutting nature of systemic inequalities that impact all migrants in Canada. Working together on issues and understanding their interconnectedness foster solidarity across migrant communities, which motivates the community organizers to keep working collectively for the 'greater good' of all people as they oppose a 'siloed'-version of activism.

Organizing Goals & Strategies & Actions

In this section, we discuss the organizing goals, strategies and actions shared by migrant leaders in the two case study communities. Migrant leaders engage activities that focus on community building, raising political consciousness and building capacity within their communities to address individual concerns as well as collective problems that stem from systemic inequalities, and work towards bringing changes that promote equity and well-being.

Below, we present some brief definitions for organizing goals, strategies, and activities to illustrate how these operate as a dynamic process for transformative resilience and resistance.

DEFINITIONS

Organizing Goals

- Aimed or desired result of working together
- Reflects the concerns of the community. Address short-term needs while building towards long-term system change

Organizing Strategies

- How people analyze problems, build power through working together, and identify goals to organize (See Fine, n.d.)
- Processes and steps are taken to reach target audiences or create an impact.
- "A plan of action that links problems and solutions and depends on ongoing assessment of the actions and the sentiments of the other actors (Mondros et al, 1994 p. 131).

- Mobilize a specific type and amount of power
- Are directed at a specific target
- Are intended to achieve a specific objective (Fine, n.d.)

Values Guiding Strategy Development

South Asian immigration women leaders in the East Danforth neighbourhoods shared how their values guide their approach to community organizing.

Consensus:

- Working as a group to identify from shared experience what are the problems we are facing? What are the similarities between our stories?
 Then deciding what activities to organize from our shared experience.
- "What's good for us, what would be better to do for our future" (South Asian Immigrant Woman Leader from East Danforth)

Impact:

 Talking with each other to understand why we are doing what we are doing? Making sure we are responding to the immediate needs of our community but also building a better future for ourselves and our children.

Centering the Lived Experience of Women in the Community:

 Migrant organizers who come from the community talk about their issues and "represent themselves"

"Suppose you are fighting for a \$15 minimum wage. It is a matter of your life and death because you cannot live below a minimum wage salary as it falls short every month. Here I am working at \$25 per hour, now you put me as a leader to fight to increase the minimum wage. I go to talk with Premier Kathleen Wynne, the minimum wage was \$11.50 and Wynne told me, 'No... I'm not going to give you \$15, I'll give you \$12 or \$13.' I asked for \$15 and they gave \$13, that's okay. When I come back to the community to say 'We won, we got \$13,' they will say to me, "Huh?! \$13 is not enough for me!". This is not my problem but if a community member goes there, sits down and says, 'I'm not going to leave without \$15 an hour because this is my life and death problem.' they can take the lead... All of the people at the negotiating table, who are social workers who make \$20, \$30, \$40 per hour, have to listen. So, we can be the organizers, but we cannot be the only ones sitting at the table, because we don't experience this problem."

South Asian Immigrant Woman Leader

Accessibility:

Making sure the actions are approachable for all community members;
 that people can relate to the purpose and impact.

We have to make sure that the people in leadership roles are directly involved in the advocacy campaign...

South Asian Immigrant Woman Leader

Using different strategies to engage women who experience social isolation: Praxis

- o Collecting stories from community members to identify patterns
- Creating accessible materials for the community to learn about their shared concerns
- Organize opportunities for consciousness-raising to "help people realize how their personal struggles are connected to the problem"
- o Analyzing previous actions to better understand the identified issues
- Discussing with the community what adjustments to make moving forward.

Linking Organizing Goals and Strategies

Both the community leaders in the Tibetan community in Parkdale and South Asian immigrant women in East Danforth engage in a wide range of activities to work towards their shared goals. While some activities are ongoing and provide support, offer a service, or focus on community building. Other activities are community events that raise public awareness and create spaces for people to listen to and learn from each other. Migrant community leaders also organize demonstrations or take part in collective actions in solidarity with other groups.

The following illustrations show the linkages of organizing goals, strategies and activities shared by South Asian immigrant women from SAWRO and Tibetan community leaders from different groups. These linkages show they are interwoven such that sum is much greater than any one part:

South Asian Immigrant Women in East Danforth

GENDER EQUITY

Strategies:

- Empowering women leaders
- Affordable childcare
- Financial Independence for women
- Creating a safe space for LGBTQ people to belong
- Creating opportunities for women and young girls to develop and use leadership skills

Activities:

- Mentoring and training local leaders
- Campaigning for full-day kindergarten
- Taking part in International Women's Day March
- Offering STEM workshops for girls
- Youth producing "I am a Muslim Girl" and "I am not a zombie" videos

ECONOMIC INCLUSION

Strategies:

- Living wage
- Affordable housing
- Labour protections (e.g. sick leave; minimum hours for temp positions)
- Recognition for international education/experience
- Solidarity with other communities

- Conducting needs assessment surveys and presenting recommendations to stakeholders, policymakers.
- Helping women find jobs & childcare
- Offering informal/mutual aid, childcare
- Workshops and forums on labour immigration rights
- Performing skits on precarious work as part of public education
- Campaigning for \$15 minimum wage
- Organizing with Unifor (union)
- Supporting businesses of community members in cultural events
- Service delivery (legal aid support, skills and language training, career counselling)

South Asian Immigrant Women in East Danforth

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT/ STRONG COMMUNITIES

Strategies:

- Breaking isolation
- Fostering a sense of belonging in Canada
- Bridging intergenerational gap
- Practicing cultural heritage
- Teaching youth the history of political struggle from fighting colonization

Activities:

- Door to door organizing
- Women's circles
- Debriefing with women before and after attending a rally or other actions; "why are we doing this?"
- Community gardening
- Intergenerational groups
- Social and cultural events/festivals

BUILDING A JUST SOCIETY

Strategies:

- Solidarity with anti-racist and immigrant rights movements and grassroots networks
- Mutual aid
- Collaboration

- Deputations on child care and precarious work to local and federal governments
- Networking with community organizations and other migrant rights groups
- Organizing international Mother's Language Day

Tibetan Community

TIBETAN FREEDOM MOVEMENT

Strategies:

- Raising public awareness in Canada of Chinese occupation of Tibet and Free Tibet campaign
- Building capacity and coalition across different Tibet support groups networks in Canada and the Tibetan diaspora
- Fundraising for Tibetan freedom movement
- Including political actions at cultural community events
- Creating platform for young Tibetans to get involved in the Tibetan cause

Activities:

- Mobilizing university students to take action for the Free Tibet campaign
- Actions for political prisoners in Tibet: celebrating the birthday of a high profile Tibetan political prisoner and spiritual leader, Panchen Lama to raise awareness
- Providing leadership training to students and youth
- Lobby days at Ottawa: meeting MPs and Senators
- Tibetan Youth taking part in international conferences and training to become more politically involved in the Tibetan cause; learn about Tibet and its culture
- Organizing march in Toronto for March 10th the national uprising day
- Organizing events for March 12th commemoration of Tibetan women's uprising in Tibet

SUPPORTING TIBETAN DIASPORA

Strategies:

- Provide financial support to Tibetans living in Nepal and India
- Supporting resettlement of Tibetans in Canada (as sponsored family members or refugees)

- Fundraising to provide scholarship for Tibetan students in Nepal and India
- Townhall meeting and lobbying Members of Parliament to issue a one-way visa for stateless Tibetans living in Nepal
- Community mobilization for the project to resettle Tibetans from India to Canada

Tibetan Community

COMMUNITY BUILDING IN CANADA

Stragtegies:

- Establishing and maintaining the Tibetan Canadian Cultural Centre
- Preserving Tibetan language and cultural practices
- Sharing cultural knowledge and practising mutual aid through Kyidug (I.e. traditional mutual aid groups) in Canada
- Creating alternative avenues in the community to navigate the psychological toll of exile
- Joining international workshops and conferences for Tibetan diaspora
- Fighting gentrification and displacement of "Little Tibet" in Parkdale

Activities:

- Fundraising for Tibetan Canadian Cultural Centre (TCCC)
- Community gathering at the TCCC for social and religious events
- Offer programs to learn Tibetan language, Buddhism, performing arts, drop-in conversations on mental health, gender based violence
- Organize weekly community circle dance in Parkdale, drop in basketball
- Celebrating regional festivals like 'Phaknying' (A summer festival in Western Tibet where people gather to celebrate what is considered as the most 'nutritious' day of the year) and passing down of folk song and dance to younger Tibetans
- Social programs for seniors: yoga, prayer sessions, health talks
- Offer arts-programs for youth to share experiences and stories

ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL INCLUSION

Strategies:

- Leverage the geographic concentration of Tibetans in Parkdale
- Joining campaigns for affordable housing
- Empowering women leaders
- Advocating for workers' rights
- Social media advocacy
- Reaching out to mainstream media
- Advocacy for immigration status

- Participating in rent strikes and rallies to protest rent increase and legal aid cuts in Parkdale
- Supporting workers' strike at Food Terminal Strike for better wages by showing up to join the protesting workers and spreading news through social media
- Building a relationship with organizations & groups in Parkdale
- Raising awareness and mobilization: lobby meetings, door-to-door knocking and flyers



I started to go to the park and sit down with the women and discuss why they are not working, what is the cause and most of the women said they don't know where to find the jobs. They don't know how they should go, because I feel like for the political work, first you have to work with people. They have the problem and I talk with some group of people, I said why not you come together to make an organization.

South Asian Immigrant Woman Leader

Organizing Strategies - SAWRO

- Grassroots outreach: going door to door to talk to people about their problems
- Collecting data from surveys, focus groups, and interviews
- Connecting personal struggles to shared social problems
- Empowering women through addressing their immediate needs
- Continuously engaging members so they feel connected
- Building leadership capacity within the community
- Mixing cultural events with political goals to increase community engagement
- Collaborating with non-profit organizations and academic researchers
- Writing reports to community-based research findings with community members, other service providers, and policymakers
- Developing skits to share the lived experience of economic hardship and precarious employment with community members, other service providers, and policymakers

- Offering direct services to address immediate needs
- Establishing charitable status as a non-profit organization to apply for federal, provincial and regional grants to support advocacy and direct services



Because of how concentrated we are in Parkdale, there is a relationship that the community people have to different offices. The MP's office has someone who is from the Tibetan community, we have a Tibetan MPP, the municipal office, Gord Perks who is also receptive to the Tibetan community, so I think that the Tibetan community made use of that kind of what little power they have and they understand how to navigate these different interests, right?

Tibetan Community Leader

Organizing Strategies - Tibetans in Parkdale

- Fundraise and organize direct actions for the Tibetan freedom movement
- Lobby public officials to highlight and garner support for the freedom cause
- Networking transnationally with Tibetan diaspora around the world: coalition for freedom movement, raise funds for emergency relief, access to education and health care for communities in Nepal and India.
- Political mobilization at cultural events: engaging with government officials, raising funds for organizing, sharing news and announcements
- Promote Tibetan language and culture to strengthen community building
- Leverage support from personal networks in the community

- Leverage the geographic concentration of Tibetans in Parkdale
- Knowledge sharing/consciousness-raising
- Build youth leadership skills through training, volunteer and work opportunities
- Organize mutual aid through networks of *Kyidug* 375 Tibetan mutual aid groups that address social welfare of members and observe festivals
- Connecting to mainstream media and sharing news on social media platforms

Migrant leaders work towards goals of systemic change as they develop strategies and engage in activities that foster individual and community resilience. They organize to create a space of belonging, strengthen their identities, and provide mutual aid and direct services to address immediate needs of community members who are struggling with social and economic marginalization. They also organize direct actions, participate in social movements, and work with other communities and organizations to challenge cross-cutting issues. Providing support for individual community members to overcome their immediate needs, while also building capacity towards systemic change is fundamental to fostering transformative resilience within individuals and the community.

Impacts

In this section, we illustrate how migrant leaders and organizers understand the impact of migrant collective actions in their communities, and also on the broader Canadian society.

When discussing the impact of migrant-led collective actions, migrant leaders and organizers foreground the values that bring them together as an important framework for assessing impact. This includes attention to how their actions impact individual's sense of empowerment and well-being, community capacity to come together to offer direct support and mutual aid and collective efforts to make material changes that improve peoples' lives.

Political Consciousness Raising within Migrant Communities:
 Migrant organizing raises political consciousness within migrant communities of the roots causes of systemic inequality. As migrant communities develop an understanding for how their lives are shaped by global capitalism, systemic racism, patriarchy, and colonization within Canada, they develop a collective responsibility to work to address their shared concerns. This increases the community's sense of collective power to work towards common goals.

When we work with non-Filipino migrants and the immigrants that have very similar issues, it furthers our analysis of migration within the neoliberal context. Because when we say migration or the phenomenon of global migration, it doesn't happen in any vacuum, right? It's not just the Philippines, it's the flow of global migration coincides with the flow of like capitalist accumulation from the Global South to the Global North, right? So, in concrete terms, whenever we support, for example, workers from Southeast Asia or even from Latin America, workers can concretely see that, oh, regardless whether I'm from the Philippines or other countries, these countries are also dominated by foreign countries that are essentially pushing out to communities and then eventually they come and migrate as temporary foreign workers in Canada, so I think there's an impact there.

Migrant Grassroots Organizer

Individual and Community Resilience:

Migrant organizing increases individual and collective capacity to 'push-back' against systemic inequalities. Migrant leaders demonstrate individual resilience when speaking up on issues they face in Canada and taking leadership roles within and outside of their communities to address these challenges. Migrant collective action also fosters community resilience, through creating a sense of belonging and community, as well as tapping into the community networks to better understand and challenge systemic inequalities.

• Big and Small Victories:

Migrant organizers recognize the importance of celebrating both "big" and "small" victories that result from collective action. Honoring these wins is an important process for people to build a sense of agency from their involvement. Some victories may be campaign-specific like when Parkdale residents organized a rent strike to protest above-guidelines rent increases. South Asian immigrant women also expressed pride from their work with a coalition of parents campaigning for full-day kindergarten in Ontario. Some organizing victories, however, may be "small" in that they are linked to individual accomplishments like helping someone find a job or get into school. It is equally important to celebrate both "big" and "small" wins, as this allows people to "see the power of many." This gives a sense of hope that working together can make a difference, even in the face of ongoing challenges.

People when they participate in these collective actions, they see the power of many. They see that if we all stand together and we are all together, whether it's occupying somebody's office or blocking traffic or sealing off the Chinese consulate, there is power in numbers, there's strength in numbers and it would not be the same if it was just one person, whatever the issue is. So, I have seen people, almost joyful after actions. We laugh, we joke around, you can visibly see people feel empowered right, if there's such a thing you can see it. And I think its, you come together you realize that we are all connected, we are all affected by the same issues right so, I think it makes a huge difference when people do participate in collective actions.

Tibetan Community Leader

- Building Solidarity with Migrant and Indigenous Communities:
 Migrant organizing strengthens networks across different migrant communities who face similar systemic inequalities. There is also emerging consciousness among migrant communities to work in solidarity with Indigenous peoples and foster deeper relationships and responsibility with the land and all forms of life.
- Public Awareness of Systemic Inequalities Faced by Migrants: Migrant organizing highlights the systemic challenges experienced by migrant communities that include the growth in precarious immigration as well as continued underemployment and low wages among racialized immigrants. Migrant communities also contribute to labour organizing across Canada using an intersectional lens to the rights of migrant caregivers, migrant sex workers, and temporary foreign workers in the agriculture sector and other low-wage jobs. Systemic. This critical perspective informs grassroots responses to precarious labour, while informing policy advocacy at the local, provincial and federal level.
- Expanding What it Means to be Canadian: Through bringing visibility to the concerns facing migrant communities, collective action expands upon what it means to be Canadian and who makes up Canada. This includes attention to Indigenous struggles for sovereignty and land rights and the idea of tolerance for diversity.

I think the visibility of immigrant organizing and immigrant issues means that we increasingly need to understand Canada as very diverse. We all go on and on about diversity, but what does that mean? Immigrant organizing makes people think about, well, how much diversity am I willing to tolerate? Right? Or what does it mean for people to truly challenge that whole notion of 'go back to where you came from'? All of those questions come into play when we're talking about immigrant communities and the work that they're doing.

Non-Immigrant Community Organizer who works in solidarity with Migrant Communities

Resources

Migrant leaders in this research share about different resources accessible in and outside of their communities, that support and sustain their organizing work. Those resources are discussed as follows:

Community Resources:

Migrant leaders talked about their geographic location and social networks as resources that support their work.

- Both case study communities are based in specific neighborhoods in the GTA, with Tibetans in Parkdale and South Asian immigrant women in East Danforth. Their geographic concentration builds a sense of community and also serves as a great leverage to organize, raise community issues at local governance, have greater representation in settlement organizations.
- Social networks within the communities play an effective role in reaching out to the members, bringing them together and supporting them. Among the South Asian immigrant women in East Danforth, informal networks as well as SAWRO provide mutual aid and direct services to people. The Tibetan community tap into the Tibetan cultural centre as well as several Kyidug Argar as important networks to support community members.

Financial Resources:

Migrant communities rely on informal and formal sources of funding to support their activities.

- Migrant communities and organizations are often resourced by their community members and leaders who make individual donations, volunteer their work and organize community fundraise drives.
- Access grants from different foundations and government: Laidlaw foundation, Groundswell, Freedonia, United Way, Trillium Foundation, Canada summer jobs, Canadian Women's Foundation, City of Toronto

Training and educational resources:

Migrant leaders take part in training and workshops offered by grassroots groups and non-profit organizations. These may include:

- 'Know-Your-Rights' workshops
- Anti-oppression workshop
- Workshops on civic engagement
- Leadership and skill-building trainings

Coalition and networks: Migrant leaders partner with different settlement organizations and build network with other migrant networks.

- Mainstream service providing organizations
- Different migrant networks: OCAP, Unions (Unifor, CUPE, etc.), Migrant Worker's Network, Migrant Workers Action Center, CASSA, OCASI

Barriers to Organizing

This report documents how migrants across the GTA organize, support each other and resource their communities and grassroots organizations. While this demonstrates their resiliency, it is also indicative of their marginalization and their lack of access to resources that support their communities. Thus, it is important to highlight the challenges migrant leaders face when leading collective actions.

Individual-level barriers to participating in collective action

Economic and political insecurity:

Migrants who experience economic and/or political insecurity are in the most vulnerable positions and they fear the repercussion of participating in collective actions. Low-income migrants often do not have income security and they fear losing their jobs or housing, whereas many fear losing their legal status, being arrested or even deported for their organizing work.

• Gendered barriers:

Migrant women experience gendered barriers in participating in collective action as they are expected to assume caregiving responsibility in the family, in addition to providing financial support. South Asian immigrant women also share that they often face resistance from their husbands who disapprove of their involvement in organizing.

Stigma and internalized oppression:

Migrant leaders share their challenges in bringing people together and organizing on issues that are stigmatized in their communities. Some of those discussed issues are poverty, precarious immigration status, gender-based violence and alcoholism. In some cases, migrants internalize their own oppression and accept views and policies that justify anti-migrant framework.

• Reluctance to resistance:

Migrant leaders and organizers share that migrants who have left difficult situations in their countries of origin often compare their living conditions preand post-migration, which prevents them from fighting inequities in Canada. Migrants' reluctance to participate in collective action also stems from the idea of upholding "good image" for their community as they do not want to appear rebellious, or in case of the Tibetan community, seem "ungrateful" by voicing their problems and challenges in Canada.

Our parents' mentality comes from just striving to survive in India because there, it wasn't about being involved in Indian politics, it's about living as a refugee, going farming, putting together a house and feeding the children, right? So, it's a very different reality here where.. you should be involved in other larger spheres and it still needs a lot of work.

Tibetan Community Leader

Group and community-level barriers to organizing collective action

Lack of resources:

Grassroots migrant organizations across the GTA function out of a scarcity of resources that are essential for their work. Lack of resources limited and unstable funding, overstretched manpower and capacity building opportunities for organizers are significant barriers to collective organizing.

• Institutional barriers:

Migrant organizers raise their concern over various institutional barriers that restrict and undermine their work. Many grassroots organizations who receive government funding are restricted from political organizing that critique the system. South Asian immigrant women express their frustration over the reluctance among some stakeholders and people in power to accept certain issues as 'big issue'. Members of Tibetan community point to lack of mainstream media coverage on their collective actions for Tibetan freedom movement in Canada.

- Internal division within the community as well as the organizations are seen as challenges that weaken the community organizing. Some of those include intergenerational conflicts, differences in prioritization of issues and division among documented and undocumented members of the community.
- Challenges in building network: Migrant organizers face various challenges in building solidarity across migrant communities and organizations due to lack of resources, limited networking capacity and differing priorities and analyses of issues. Some organizes note that the 'divide, rule and conquer' strategy leave the migrant communities to contest for the limited resources available to them, which causes a barrier to working together.

All ethnic groups should come together, but we don't know who is going to create that glue for us, we do not have any resource to organize and glue up all organizations together, and government I know definitely will not... because there is fear, so they will never resource us to connected.

South Asian Immigrant Woman Leader

Transformative Resilience during the COVID-19 Pandemic

Since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, many migrant communities who were already experiencing multiple layers of oppression and inequalities, faced exacerbated social isolation and economic hardship due to job loss, unpaid leave, and the stress of working in front-line essential jobs or living in high density housing with limited options for social distancing.

Though our research activities took place before the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, while writing this report we learned how migrant communities involved in our study were well prepared to organize mutual aid and to provide various forms of support to their community members and beyond. Below we highlight excerpts from conversations with advisory members, to illustrate the continued manifestation of transformative resilience during the pandemic.

Some examples of community responses to COVID-19 led by the two communities included:

South Asian Immigrant Women in East Danforth

South Asian Women's Rights Organization

- Distribute face masks, shields, sanitizers and food supplies to the members
- Provide support to people seeking access to emergency financial assistance
- Youth help elders and others in the community to navigate online services and platforms
- Invite medical professionals to offer online info sessions in Bengali language to share information COVID testing, vaccination and other health-related information
- Support with accessing legal aid for housing, immigration and domestic violence during COVID as an expressed need
- Organize cultural and social events virtually
- Organize online discussion for community members to share experiences and impacts of COVID-19 in the community
- Partner with East Toronto and Scarborough Health Network community to discuss vaccine strategies and disseminate information

Tibetans in Parkdale

Tibetan Canadian Cultural Centre

- Partner with local Tibetan restaurants to deliver fresh meal to frontline healthcare workers and homeless people in encampments in Parkdale and across the city
- Invite public office holders for virtual info-sessions on refugee claims and accessing COVID-relief assistance
- Provide food rations and personal protective equipment (PPE) to seniors in the community
- Organize virtual daily prayer sessions as well as circle dance every Wednesday

Tibetan Women's Association of Ontario

- Sow and distribute cloth masks and scrub hats to healthcare workers, seniors, community centers
- Offer virtual wellness and recreational sessions including yoga, meditation, children's ballet classes
- Organize free virtual income-tax clinic/consultation for low-income families
- Organize info-session in Tibetan on immigration, legal and settlement services, seniors' benefits

Thoughts from Youdon Tenzin Khangsar, Tibetan Women's Association of Ontario

"The past pandemic has taught us a lot, where we emerged even more resilient and stronger as a community. Especially all the community organizations and leaders surrounding Parkdale-High Park. There was a point when we had weekly 'Parkdale Mutual Aid' community zoom meetings/conferences. This was very pleasant and amazing to watch, as there were multiple community organizations and leaders of various ethnic backgrounds that came together to aid, discuss and inform each other about all the resources that are available in the light of pandemic and ongoing struggles that have been there, prior to the pandemic".

Thoughts from Sultana Jahangir, South Asian Women's Rights Organization.

"When the pandemic hit, Canada was not ready. There was no emergency system to support racialized immigrants who lost their jobs and didn't have money for housing and food, many who were excluded from federal emergency assistance because of their precarious work. The Covid infection rate, the loss of life, these impacted us first and the hardest because of pre-existing systemic inequality.

As immigrants from Bangladesh and Tibetan refugees, we arrived in Canada with emergency disaster experience. We drew upon our experience to act even before the government, to offer mutual aid to support each other, bring food to people, and find out how seniors are doing. When the government started to take action, they recognized that small community-based organizations like SAWRO have an important role to play because we are very close to the community and understand their concerns. When we received funding for pandemic relief, we distributed this aid immediately, while bigger organizations that were unaccustomed to working remotely, moved more slowly to offer essential aid and support.

Pandemic is showing us the importance of community organizations like the Tibetan community and SAWRO who provide "social love." All of the smaller ethnic community organizations are the social glue in times of crisis. Even though we have different histories and points of view, we stand with the community, working tirelessly to take people to hospital, drop off food, help people not to panic, because we have experience in disaster management from our own backgrounds. When we take care of our neighbors and see how everyone is doing, we increase social love and the communities' capacity to overcome systemic inequalities. These are the skills that we bring from our own community, when we do collective action".

7 Lessons from Migrant Collective Actions

- 1) When migrant communities come together, they create spaces of belonging, draw upon their individual & collective experiences of inequality, and build a sense of responsibility towards the community and future generation.
- 2) The way people come together matters. It's important to create space for community sharing, to link history to the present, and nurture and provide opportunities for shared leadership.
- 3) Migrant-led community organizing strengthens individual and community resilience by collectively identifying shared challenges, tapping into community assets and networks, and building collective capacity through mutual aid, direct services, and advocating for policy changes that address shared concerns.
- 4) Through organizing direct actions and building solidarity with the larger migrant community, migrant leaders foster transformative resilience within their communities and advocate for systemic changes in Canada and transnationally.
- 5) Limited and unstable funding strain community leaders and resources.
- 6) Government and non-profit organizations can play a vital role to support migrant-led community organizing. Some forms of support may include:
 - a. Space for communities to come together.
 - b. Workshops or training on grassroots leadership development, public education, and community capacity building.
 - c. Funding to support grassroots initiatives, where community-based organizers can work within their own communities.
 - d. Amplifying community-led concerns.
 - e. Including migrant community leaders in community and program development
- 7) Migrant collective action promotes social cohesion and civic engagement through resisting assimilation to settler colonialism, practicing cultural and spiritual knowledge; and envisioning and working towards a society where all people can thrive.

Glossary

Barriers: In the context of collective action, barriers refer to group norms or institutional challenges that impede/prevent people from participating in or groups organizing for social action.

Collective action: Groups of people working together to address shared concerns in the community, through consistent social and/or political activities.

Community organizing: Community organizing involves the mobilization of a group of people to empower themselves by identifying their needs and taking collective actions to address shared issues and concerns.

Economic insecurity:

- "the anxiety produced by the possible exposure to adverse economic events and by the anticipation of the difficulty to recover from them" (Bossert & D'Ambrosio, 2013, p. 1018)
- According to Osberg (2010, p. 23), "[A] definition of 'economic insecurity' which reflects the common usage meaning of the term 'insecure' might be: 'the anxiety produced by the lack of economic safety (Bossert & D'Ambrosio, 2013, p. 1018)

Empowerment: Becoming or feeling increased confidence to control one's life and feel capable of doing something to improve one's life.

Ethnic communities: communities with a high concentration of immigrants from a particular background. These geographic areas are often visible as immigrant destinations, due to the many ethnic-specific businesses and organizations.

Immigrant: A person who has settled permanently in another country (CCR)

Institutional/Systemic barriers: Policies, procedures, or practices that unfairly discriminate and can prevent individuals from accessing resources, opportunities or participating fully in a situation (The Responsible Consumer, n.d.).

Internalized oppression: When people of oppressed groups accept and justify dominant values, beliefs and attitudes that oppress them.

Kyidug are: Translated in English as 'in times of joy and sorrow', kyidug are Tibetan welfare groups that usually connect people with common geographic and

cultural ties in Tibet to observe festivals and address social welfare of members (Swank, 2014).

Lived Experience: Real experiences of individuals that is the source of their knowledge.

Migrant: A person who is outside their country of origin (CCR).

Mutual Aid: Community members exchanging support and services for mutual benefit.

Newcomer: landed immigrants who came to Canada up to five years before a given census year (Statistics Canada)

Non-status: A person who does not have a legal status which allows them to live and work in Canada. Including people or who remained in Canada after their visa has expired (CCR).

Organizing Goal: Aimed or desired result of working together that reflect the concerns of the community.

Organizing Strategy: "A plan of action that links problems and solutions and depends on ongoing assessment of the actions and the sentiments of the other actors (Mondros et al, 1994 p. 131).

Place-based struggle: Grassroots organizing for specific needs of people in specific geographic location.

Political consciousness: Awareness and critical understanding of one's social, economic, or political identities and different forces that shape them

Praxis: Developing ideas or theories through action, engagement and reflection

Precarious immigration status: Precarious status means forms of legal status characterized by any of the following: lack of permanent residence or permanent work authorization, limited or no social benefits, inability to sponsor relatives and deportability. In Canada, precarious status describes people with authorized temporary status (such as temporary workers, international students and refugee claimants) and people without authorization to work or reside in the country (including those with expired permits or denied refugee claims, those under

deportation orders and people who entered without authorization). (Goldring, Berinstein, and Bernhard 2009, as cited in Goldring & Landdolt, 2012).

Refugee: A person who is forced to flee from persecution and who is located outside of their home country (CCR)

Resources: A diverse range of materials and assets, such as finances, knowledge, tools, networks, and materials

Social actors: Key stakeholders involved in collective action; decision-makers related to issue; factors of influence; people with lived experience

Social and economic exclusion: Forms of social, economic and political disadvantage or discrimination and the lack of collective capacity to address the conditions that produce disadvantage

Stateless person: A person that no state recognizes as a citizen (CCR)

Structural/systemic inequalities: A system in which public policies, institutional practices, cultural representations and social norms contribute to and reinforce various forms of inequalities ()

Transformative resilience: A conceptualized/critical framework to investigate how migrant communities simultaneously adapt and cope with host society conditions while resisting unequal relations of power

References

Access Alliance (2012). Community-Based Research Toolkit: Resources and Tools for Doing Research with Community Social Change. https://accessalliance.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/CBR_Toolkit_1_-Jan2012.pdf

Akbar, M. (2017). Migration and resilience: Exploring the stock of knowledge. Review of literature and bibliography from 2000 to 2016. Working paper. Building Migrant Resilience in Cities, York University. Toronto, ON.

Akbar, M, and Preston, V. (2020). Labour Market Challenges and Entrepreneurial Activities of Bangladeshi Immigrant Women in Toronto: A Family Perspective. Ryerson Centre for Immigration and Settlement (Toronto, ON).

Anleu Hernández, C. M., & García-Moreno, C. (2014). Migration, resilience and social work: Latin Americans in Tarragona. *The British Journal of Social Work,* 44(suppl_1), i88-8104.

Asalya, Sara. 2019. "Doug Ford government cuts are hurting immigrant and refugee communities." *Toronto Star*, July 26, 2019.

Bhuyan, R. and Leung, V. (2021). Framing migrant resilience as a civic responsibility: A case study of municipal and provincial immigrant integration policies in Toronto, Ontario. *The British Journal of Social Work*. Advanced online.

Broughton, S. and Sheilds, J. (2020). Resilience and The Immigrant Settlement Sector: A consideration of the place of accountability and performance management. Research Report. https://bmrc-irmu.info.yorku.ca/files/2020/04/April-2020-Shields-Full-Report-FINAL.pdf?x82641https://bmrc-irmu.info.yorku.ca/files/2020/04/April-2020-Shields-Full-Report-FINAL.pdf?x82641

Block, S., Galabuzi, G., and Tranjan, R. (2019). *Canada's Colour Coded Income Inequality*. Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives (Ottawa, ON).

Bossert, W., & D'ambrosio, C. (2013). Measuring Economic Insecurity. *International Economic Review*, *54*(3), 1017–1030. https://doi.org/10.1111/iere.12026

Canadian Council for Refugees (n.d.). Refugees and Immigrants: A glossary. Ottawa, ON. https://ccrweb.ca/en/glossary

Carlson, B. E., Cacciatore, J., & Klimek, B. (2012). A risk and resilience perspective on unaccompanied refugee minors. *Social Work, 57*(3), 259-269.

CBC News (2018, June 10). 1st Tibetan-Canadian elected to public office in North America reflects on humble beginnings in Canada. Author. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/ndp-bhutila-karpoche-profile-1.4700432

Central Tibetan Administration (n.d.). Tibet in Exile [Webpage]. Author. https://tibet.net/about-cta/tibet-in-exile/

Central Tibetan Administration (n.d.) Glimpses on History of Tibet [Webpage]. Author. https://tibet.net/about_tibet/glimpses-on-history-of-tibet/

City of Toronto (2019). Toronto Resilience Strategy. Toronto, ON. https://www.toronto.ca/ext/digital-comm/pdfs/resilience-office/toronto-resilience-strategy.pdf

Council of Ontario Universities (n.d.) Understanding Barriers to Accessibility. https://www.uottawa.ca/respect/sites/www.uottawa.ca.respect/files/accessibility-cou-understanding-barriers-2013-06.pdf

Dolma, T. (2019). Why are Tibetans migrating out of India? *The Tibet Journal* 44 (1): 27-52.

Dubus, N. (2018). Family resiliency during resettlement: A comparative study of two Syrian families resettled in an Arctic nation. *Journal of Family Social Work* 21 (2): 98-114.

FCJ Refugee Centre (2013) Underserved communities research non-status populations (including emerging gradations). Toronto, ON. https://www.fcjrefugeecentre.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/NON-STATUS-POPULATIONS.pdf

Fine, J. (n.d.). Principle: Choose tactics that support your strategy [Blog post]. https://beautifultrouble.org/principle/choose-tactics-that-support-your-strategy/

Fitzgibbons, J. and Mitchell, C. L. (2019). Just urban futures? Exploring equity in "100 Resilient Cities". *World Development*, 26, 648-659.

Frank, K., & Hou, F. (2016). Beyond culture: source country female labour force participation and the earnings of immigrant women. *Work, employment and society, 30*(3), 410-435.

Ghosh, S. (2007). Transnational ties and intra-immigrant group settlement experiences: A case study of Indian Bengalis and Bangladeshis in Toronto. *GeoJournal*, 68(2), 223-242.

Goldring, L. and Landolt, P. (2012). The Impacts of Precarious Legal Status on Immigrants' Economic Outcomes. IRPP Study. https://irpp.org/wp-content/uploads/assets/research/diversity-immigration-and-integration/the-impact-of-precarious-legal-status-on-immigrants-economic-outcomes/IRPP-Study-no35.pdf

Hulchanski, D. and Maaranen, R. (2018). Neighbourhood socioeconomic polarization and segregation in Toronto: Trends and processes since 1970. Neighbourhood Change Research Partnership, University of Toronto. http://neighbourhoodchange.ca/documents/2018/09/hulchanski-2018-toronto-segregation-presentation.pdf

Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada (IRCC) (2020). 2020 Annual Report to Parliament. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/publications-manuals/annual-report-parliament-immigration-2020.html

Karpoche, B. (2020, September 20). Bhutila Karpoche: Tibetan Heritage Month Bill Passes [Video file]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ok-ChBNkf_8

Lenette, C., Brough, M., and Cox, L. (2013). Everyday resilience: Narratives of single refugee women with children. *Qualitative Social Work, 12*(5), 637-653.

Logan, J., and Murdie, R. (2016) Home in Canada? The Settlement Experiences of Tibetans in Parkdale, Toronto. *International Migration and Integration*, 17(1), 95–113.

MacPherson, S., Bentz, A. and Ghoso, D. (2008). Global Nomads: The Emergence of the Tibetan Diaspora (Part I). Migration Policy Institute, Washington, D.C. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/global-nomads-emergence-tibetan-diaspora-part-i

Mamoud, S. (2003). Is Bangladesh Experiencing a 'Feminization' of the Labor Force? The Bangladesh Development Studies 29 (1/2): 1-37.

McGranahan, C. (2018). Refusal as political practice: Citizenship, sovereignty, and Tibetan refugee status *American Ethnologist*, 45(3), 367-379.

Mok, Tanya (2020). How a Toronto neighbourhood became known as Little Tibet. BlogTO. https://www.blogto.com/city/2018/08/little-tibet-parkdale-toronto/

Mondros, J.B. & Wilson, S.M. (1994). Organizing for Power and Empowerment. Columbia University Press.

Nashwan, A., Cummings, S. M., & Gagnon, K. (2019). Older female Iraqi refugees in the United States: Voices of struggle and strength. *International Social Work, 62*(2), 653-668.

Raska, Jan (2016). Humanitarian Gesture: Canada and the Tibetan Resettlement Program, 1971–5. *The Canadian Historical Review*, 97(4), 546-575.

Resilience Cities Network (2020). Connecting a City-Led Network. https://resilientcitiesnetwork.org

Rippon, S., Bagnall, A. M., Gamsu, M., South, J., Trigwell, J., Southby, K., Warwich-Booth, L., Coan, S. & Woodward, J. (2020). Towards transformative resilience: community, neighbourhood and system responses during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Cities & Health*, 1-4.

South Asian Women's Rights Organization (SAWRO) (2020). Who We Are. https://sawro.org/who-we-are/

South Asian Women's Rights Organization (SAWRO) (2020). Mission and Vision. Toronto, ON. https://sawro.org/who-we-are/mission-and-vision/

South Asian Women's Rights Organization (SAWRO) (2019). Annual Report 2018-19. Toronto, ON.

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1UYZxdCZupIMNFb4UJ5Es54tN93o9_xRl/view

South Asian Women's Rights Organization (SAWRO) (2018). Labour Market Challenges of Immigrant Women Community Needs Assessment: East Danforth Bangladeshi Working Women. Toronto, ON.

https://drive.google.com/file/d/114fRB8KEXvVI3Jp40yfboUIjTas9Ylsk/view

South Asian Women's Rights Organization (SAWRO) (2012). Very Low Labour Force Participation among Bangladeshi Immigrant Women on the Danforth: A case study in addressing demographic pockets with very low female labour force engagement. Toronto, ON. https://drive.google.com/file/d/14vzHMqfRVi-Nahrp0TsA0Jb1HQ0f089w/view

Statistics Canada (2006). Canada's ethnocultural mosaic, 2006 Census: Definitions. Government of Canada. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2006/as-sa/97-562/note-eng.cfm

Statistics Canada (2019). Census Profile, 2016 Census. Government of Canada. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/prof/index.cfm?Lang=E

Suarez, E. B. (2015). Surviving juntas (together): lessons of resilience of indigenous Quechua women in the aftermath of conflict in Peru. *Intervention*, 13(1), 6-18.

Swank, H. (2014). Rewriting Shangri-La: Tibetan youth, migrations and literacies in McLeod Ganj, India. Leiden, The Netherlands: Koninklijk Brill NV.

The Aspen Institute (n.d.). Glossary for Understanding the Dismantling Structural Racism/Promoting Racial Equity Analysis. https://www.aspeninstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/files/content/docs/rcc/RCC-Structural-Racism-Glossary.pdf

Toronto Foundation (2019/2020). Growing pains and narrow gains: Toronto's vital signs. Author, Toronto, ON. https://torontofoundation.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2019/10/VitalSigns2019.pdf

Tran, K., Kaddatz, J. and Allard, P. (2005). South Asians in Canada: Unity through diversity. Statistics Canada (Ottawa, ON).

Wanikar, Shaunak (n.d.). Community Organizing: Keep these Important strategies in Mind. CallHub. https://callhub.io/community-organizing-strategies-for-community-organizers/

Xing, L. (2018). The 10 biggest things Doug Ford has done in his first 100 days in office. CBC News. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/doug-ford-first-100-days-1.4851341.